Electronically Filed Feb 27 2017 03:48 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

Sup. Ct. No. 70837

Dist. Ct No.: A-15-714136-C

MICHAEL SARGEANT, Petitioner,

VS.

HENDERSON TAXI, Respondents

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Leon Greenberg, NSB 8094 A Professional Corporation 2965 S. Jones Boulevard - Suite E-3 Las Vegas, Nevada 89146 Telephone (702) 383-6085 Fax: 702-385-1827 Attorney for Petitioner

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal because it is an appeal of a post final judgment special order granting respondent Henderson Taxi ("Henderson") an award of attorney's fees pursuant to NRS 18.010(2)(b). *See*, NRAP 3A(b)(8). The Order granting the award of attorneys fees to Henderson pursuant to NRS 18.010(2)(b) was entered by the District Court on July 8, 2016 and Notice of Entry of the same served by electronic delivery on July 11, 2016. The Notice of Appeal was served and filed on July 13, 2016.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

NRS § 18.010(2)(b) only allows an award of attorney's fees for litigation conduct that was "without reasonable ground or to harass" and is applied, like NRCP Rule 11, to "punish" and "deter frivolous or vexatious claims." The District Court awarded Henderson attorneys fees based upon its finding that appellant Michael Sargeant's ("Sargeant's") motion for partial reconsideration of its order of October 8, 2015, or alternatively for entry of a final judgment upon such order, and Sargeant's related opposition to Henderson's motion for summary judgment,

violated NRS § 18.010(2)(b).

The specific question this Court is called upon to answer is:

Did Sargeant act "without reasonable grounds or to harass" when he presented his motion to the district court for partial reconsideration or alternatively for the entry of final judgment or in presenting his opposition to Henderson's motion for summary judgment?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Sargeant filed this case on February 19, 2015 in the Eighth Judicial District Court, alleging in his class action complaint that Henderson failed to compensate him and a class of similarly situated taxi drivers with the minimum wage required by Article 15, Section 16 of the Nevada Constitution (the Minimum Wage Amendment or "MWA"). AA 1-7.1

On March 19, 2015 Henderson answered Sargeant's complaint and denied all allegations that it owed Sargeant or any of its taxi drivers unpaid minimum wages. AA 8-15. On October 8, 2015 the district court entered an order denying

¹ Referenced page numbers of Appellant's Appendix are referred to as "AA."

Sargent's motion for class certification and other relief. AA 16-20. On October 30, 2015, Sargeant filed a motion for partial reconsideration of the district court's Order entered on October 8, 2015 or alternatively for entry of final judgment which was opposed by Henderson. AA 21-41, 56-70, 82-87. On November 11, 2015 Henderson filed a motion for summary judgment which was opposed by Sargeant. AA 42-55, 71-81. On February 3, 2016 the district court entered orders granting Henderson's motion for summary judgment and denying Sargeant's motion for partial reconsideration of the district court's order entered on October 8, 2015 or alternatively for entry of final judgment. AA 88-95. On March 7, 2016 Henderson filed its post final judgment motion for attorneys fees pursuant to NRS § 18.010(2)(b) with the district court which was opposed by Sargeant. AA 96-224. On July 8, 2016 the district court entered an order granting that motion and awarding \$26,715 in attorney's fees to Henderson. AA 225-230

Sargeant has also appealed the district court's February 3, 2016 order granting Henderson summary judgment. Briefing on that appeal, pending under Supreme Court case number 69773, was completed on November 23, 2016 and it

has been assigned to the *en banc* track. No argument date has been set.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The District Court's Order of October 8, 2015

The district court's order of October 8, 2015 denied Sargeant's motion for class certification of his MWA claims and for other relief. AA 16-20. It did not grant summary judgment to defendant or direct entry of a final judgment. Such order found class certification was not warranted for a number of reasons. It also found that a grievance resolution agreement (the "Grievance Resolution") entered into between Henderson and its employee's union acted as "a complete accord and satisfaction" of the MWA claims of Henderson's taxi drivers and that the Grievance Resolution "did not necessarily act as a waiver of minimum wage rights":

This settlement agreement for the Grievance acted as a complete accord and satisfaction of the grievance and any claims to minimum wage Henderson Taxi's cab drivers may have had.

Also as part of this settlement of the Grievance, Henderson Taxi agreed to provide acknowledgements to its current and former cab drivers for them to sign, though the drivers were not required to do so. The Court finds that there was no imbalance in bargaining power between the Union and Henderson Taxi when they negotiated a settlement of the Grievance and that

there is no evidence of coercion regarding any of the acknowledgements signed by Henderson Taxi cab drivers. Further, the Court finds that a bona fide dispute existed as to whether the *Yellow Cab* decision is to be applied retroactively. As such, it is unclear whether Henderson Taxi's cab drivers were or were not entitled to back pay prior to the settlement of the Grievance or whether they would be entitled to back pay absent the settlement of the Grievance. Accordingly, the settlement of the Grievance resolved a bona fide dispute regarding wages and did not necessarily act as a waiver of minimum wage rights. AA 17.

The district court relied upon certain "acknowledgments" entered into by a majority of the Henderson taxi drivers in finding that Sargeant had failed to meet the class certification requirements of numerosity, commonality, typicality and adequacy of representation of NRCP Rule 23(a). AA 19-20. The district court found that those acknowledgments are valid and that the Henderson taxi drivers who signed them ".... have acknowledged that they have no claim against Henderson Taxi and that they have been paid all sums owed to them." AA 17, 19. Such circumstances resulted in the district court finding that common issues of law and fact warranting class certification did not exist. Id. It found the acknowledgments "....demonstrate defenses that are unique to the hundreds of current and former taxi drivers who signed them..." and such circumstances established that Sargeant's claims were not "typical" of the class members. Id. It also found such acknowledgments, because they contradict Sargeant's declaration to the district court, establish that Sargeant was not an adequate representative of the class he proposed for certification. AA 20.

Sargeant's Motion for Partial Reconsideration of the October 8, 2015 Order or for Entry of Final Judgment

On October 30, 2015 Sargeant filed a motion for partial reconsideration of the district court's October 8, 2015 order or alternatively for entry of final judgment (the "Partial Reconsideration" motion). AA 21-41. He advised the district court the October 8, 2015 order, which was drafted by Henderson's counsel, was unclear about what, if any, further relief might be available from the court for Sargeant and the over 300 alleged class members who had never signed the acknowledgments discussed in that order (the "non-acknowledgment signers"). AA 23-25. He sought clarification on that point and proposed relief that was appropriate and consistent with a reasonable interpretation of the order in respect to that issue. AA 25-27, 82-83. He also advised the district court no request was made for reconsideration of the district court's denial of the relief originally sought in Sargeant's class certification motion. AA 23, 82-83. Alternatively, he asked

the district court to enter an order directing entry of final judgment if no further relief was available to Sargeant and the non-acknowledgment signers. AA 24-25, 29-30.

Sargeant's motion for Partial Reconsideration argued that a class was properly certified under NRCP Rule 23(b)(2) to enforce the Grievance Resolution discussed in the October 8, 2015 order for the non-acknowledgment signers. AA 25-26. Those Henderson taxi drivers, like Sargeant, had never signed the acknowledgments the October 8, 2015 order had found valid and had never received the monies owed to them under the Grievance Resolution. AA 27. Sargeant proposed that the district court order Henderson to deposit those unpaid amounts with the district court and create a process to locate those class members and pay them the monies they were owed pursuant to the Grievance Resolution. AA 26. Alternatively, if the Grievance Resolution did *not* limit the MWA rights of the proposed class of non-acknowledgment signers to just enforcing the Grievance Resolution, Sargeant sought leave to address certain aspects of the October 8, 2015 order denying class certification. AA 28-29. Finally, if no

further relief, of any kind, was available to Sargeant in the case he requested that the district court enter a final judgment. AA 29-30.

APPLICABLE STANDARD OF REVIEW

This appeal seeks reversal of an award under NRS § 18.010(2)(b) and this Court reviews such awards under an abuse of discretion standard. *Rodriguez v. Primadonna Co., LLC*, 216 P.3d 793, 800 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 2009) *citing Baldonado v. Wynn Las Vegas*, 194 P.3d 96, 106 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 2008).

ARGUMENT

- I. ATTORNEY'S FEES UNDER NRS § 18.010(2)(b) ARE NOT PROPERLY AWARDED IN RESPONSE TO A MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION SEEKING TO CLARIFY AN UNCLEAR ORDER OR ALTERNATIVELY ENTER FINAL JUDGMENT
 - A. Attorney's fees are not properly awarded under NRS 18.010(2)(b) when unclear or unsettled issues are decided and no unreasonable or harassing conduct exists.

The district court's order entered on July 8, 2016 awarding attorney's fees (the "Sanctions Order") discusses the statutory language of NRS § 18.010(2)(b) and finds Sargeant acted "without reasonable grounds." AA 227. It does not discuss any of this Court's precedents, or any decision from any court, setting forth

in what circumstances such a "without reasonable grounds" finding under NRS § 18.010(2)(b) or an analogous statute, is warranted.

This Court has repeatedly held that district courts properly deny fee awards under NRS § 18.010(2)(b) against unsuccessful litigants who present a "novel issue" or litigate "unsettled issues" of Nevada law. *See, Rodriguez* 216 P.3d at 800 and *Baldonado*, 194 P.3d at 106. It has similarly held that it is an abuse of discretion to grant such an award against a party raising issues that were not entirely clear or "free from doubt." *See, Key Bank v. Donnels*, 787 P.2d 382, 385 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 1990).

A claim is only "frivolous or groundless" under NRS § 18.010(2)(b), and warranting an attorney fee award against the losing party, "....if there is no credible evidence to support it." *Rodriguez*, *Id.* citing *Semenza v. Caughlin Crafted Homes*, 901 P.2d 684, 687 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 1995) and *Allianz Ins. Co. v. Gagnon*, 860 P.2d 720, 724 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 1993). *See, also, Bower v. Harrah's Laughlin, Inc.*, 215 P.3d 709, 726 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 2009) ("Although a district court has discretion to award attorney fees under NRS 18.010(2)(b), there must be evidence supporting

the district court's finding that the claim or defense was unreasonable or brought to harass." citing *Semenza*).

B. Attorney's fees are not properly awarded under NRS 18.010(2)(b) when reconsideration is sought on issues left unclear or unsettled by a prior court order.

The district court awarded attorney's fees based upon "Sargeant's continued litigation of this case after [the] October 8, 2015 [order]" and not for any other conduct. AA 227. Sargeant's conduct after the October 8, 2015 order consisted of (1) Making his motion for partial reconsideration or alternatively entry of a final judgment; and (2) Filing an opposition to defendant's motion for summary judgment. That opposition by Sargeant was tied to his earlier filed motion for partial reconsideration or entry of final judgment, Sargeant conceding in that opposition, as in his motion, that depending upon how the October 8, 2015 order was interpreted, entry of final judgment may be proper. AA 73.

The conduct that Sargeant engaged in after October 8, 2015, and that the district court found violated NRS 18.010(2)(b), consisted of asking the court to consider taking certain actions or rule that no such actions were proper and enter

final judgment. That conduct occurred because the order entered on October 8, 2015 contained no statement that a final judgment should be entered or that no further relief could be granted, in any fashion, to Sargeant. Such conduct also occurred because that order's findings raised at least two other unanswered questions. Those findings, and questions, which Sargeant sought to clarify and answer via his motion for partial reconsideration were:

- (1) Would the district court enforce the terms of the "accord and satisfaction" of MWA claims it found had taken place pursuant to the Grievance Resolution? If yes, Sargeant proposed it do so through an NRCP Rule 23(b)(2) class certification for the Henderson taxi drivers who never received the payments (the "satisfaction" due under that "accord") provided for by the Grievance Resolution. AA 25-27.
- (2) Were the over 300 taxi drivers, including Sargeant, who had never signed the acknowledgments discussed in the order

subject to the "accord and satisfaction" created by the Grievance Resolution? Sargeant asked for clarification from the district court on this point, as the order stated that the "accord and satisfaction" it found "did not necessarily act as a waiver of minimum wage rights." AA 28-29.

A party raising legitimate concerns about the scope of a prior order, or seeking answers to questions raised by that order, is acting reasonably. See, Estate of Blas ex. rel. Chargualaf v. Winkler, 792 F.2d 858 (9th Cir. 1986) (District court's award of sanctions in response to motion for reconsideration was improper, motion raised legitimate arguments regarding unexplained and unclear findings of original order). While this Court has never been confronted with the exact same "reconsideration motion" and "sanctions award" situation as in Estate of Blas, that case's holding is completely consistent with this Court's jurisprudence: the litigation of unsettled, unclear, or novel issues is not conduct justifying an award under NRS 18.010(2)(b). There is no reason for that rule to be applied in any different fashion in the reconsideration motion situation. The district court

manifestly abused its discretion by finding Sargeant's attempt to seek clarification of the October 8, 2015 order, via his motion for partial reconsideration, was unreasonable and warranted an award under NRS 18.010(2)(b).

C. Attorney's fees are not properly awarded under NRS 18.010(2)(b) when reconsideration is sought to have a prior order that does not contain a case dispositive recital entered as a final judgment.

The October 8, 2015 order was not a final judgment. It did not state it was granting summary judgment or dismissing Sargeant's case. Nor did it state the district court would grant no further relief of any kind to Sargeant. It did not state it would deny Sargeant any enforcement of his rights under the "accord and satisfaction" it found was created by the Grievance Resolution. Nor was it viewed by the parties, or treated by the district court, as a final judgment and the defendant subsequently sought summary judgment, which was granted by the district court.

Despite the clearly "non-final" status of the October 8, 2015 order, the district court, for the purposes of 18.010(2)(b), schizophrenically treated the order as one Sargeant should have known completely disposed of his rights and left him

without any claims to litigate. It penalized him for not recognizing the completely dispositive nature of the "non-final" October 8, 2015 order. Yet if the October 8, 2015 order was, in fact, by its terms clearly completely dispositive of all of the issues in this case it would have been a "final judgment" under this Court's well established jurisprudence, something that it was not. *See*, *Lee v. GNLV Corp.*, 996 P.2d 416, 417-18 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 2000) (Final judgment is "one that disposes of all of the issues presented in the case" and is found by examining what the district court's order or judgment "actually *does*, not what it is called," *citing and quoting Valley Bank of Nevada v. Ginsburg*, 874 P.2d 729, 733 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 1994)).

Sargeant's actions after October 8, 2015 were not only reasonable, they were the only ones proper under the circumstances: he requested the district court advise him what relief, if any, he could still seek in light of the October 8, 2015 order's findings or enter final judgment so he could appeal. He did not seek to burden the district court to reconsider anything it had *already* decided. Indeed, he expressly disavowed any such desire and stated the district court should not re-examine its prior rulings, only clarify them. AA 23, 82.

Even if Sargeant was unreasonable in believing some sort of relief was possibly available to him in the district court in light of the October 8, 2015 order, his request for reconsideration solely to have that order deemed a "final judgment" was not unreasonable. Such a final judgment was necessary for Sargeant to appeal his case and it was an abuse of discretion for the district court to sanction him for seeking reconsideration for that purpose.

- II. THERE IS NO SUPPORT FOR THE DISTRICT COURT'S FINDING THAT SARGEANT ACTED WITHOUT REASONABLE GROUNDS OR TO HARASS
 - A. The district court's finding that Sargeant should have been aware his actions after October 8, 2015 "had no factual or legal basis" is unexplained and unsupported.

The Sanction Order found that "[a]fter receipt of this Order [of October 8, 2015], Sargeant and his counsel were on notice that Sargeant's claim had no factual or legal basis." AA 227. It offered no explanation for that finding. Nor did the Sanctions Order discuss the unanswered questions raised by the October 8, 2015 order and that gave rise to Sargeant's conduct after that date.

The Sanctions Order found that Sargeant should have known the prior order

denuded him of any "factual or legal basis" to assert any right to enforce the "accord and satisfaction" created by the Grievance Resolution. It stated no reason why Sargeant should have reached that conclusion. It also found, again without explanation, that Sargeant acted unreasonably in asking the district court to clarify whether the "non-acknowledgment signers" were bound by that "accord and satisfaction." It did so despite Sargeant's concern, as he advised the district court, that the October 8, 2015 order was unclear by stating that the "accord and satisfaction" it was finding "did not necessarily act as a waiver of minimum wage rights." AA 28.

B. The district court's finding Sargeant's motion for reconsideration inherently had no merit is based upon an unexplained, and erroneous, statement of his pleading.

The Sanctions Order explained its finding that Sargeant's motion for partial reconsideration was made without reasonable ground with one sentence: "A motion for reconsideration seeking judgment on an unpleaded claim and certification of an unpleaded class is not a motion for reconsideration and inherently has no merit."

AA 228. It cites no authority in support of this conclusion.

The Sanctions Order does explain what "unpleaded claim" and "unpleaded class" Sargeant was unreasonably "seeking judgment" on. Nor does it state what sort of pleading standard Sargeant needed to meet to properly present his motion.

It fails to do so because this finding by the district court is clearly erroneous both as a matter of law and based upon Sargeant's pleadings.

No heightened or particularized pleading requirement exists for MWA claims or class action claims. Nor did the district court find any such pleading requirement existed in this case. Sargeant's complaint is a pleading seeking all appropriate class relief, including equitable relief, available under the MWA. AA 5-6. That broad request for relief would include relief for just Sargeant and a class of the other "non-acknowledgment" signers for an order enforcing the MWA "accord and satisfaction" found by the October 8, 2015 order if that was the only relief available under the MWA. While the district court may have found such relief was not available, or denied it for other reasons, its finding that such a claim for class relief was "unpleaded" is not only unexplained, it is clearly contrary to the record.

C. The district court's finding Sargeant's opposition to Henderson's motion for summary judgment was improper is erroneous and contrary to the record.

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