IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE

STATE OF NEVADA

MICHAEL SARGEANT, Individually
and on behalf of others similarly
situated.

Appellant,

v.

HENDERSON TAXI,

Respondent.

SUPREME COURT Electronically Filed Apr. 11, 2017 01:26 p.m. District Court Case Velizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, State of Nevada, County of

Clark, The Honorable Michael P. Villani, District Court Judge

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Holland & Hart LLP

Anthony L. Hall, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 5977
Andrea M. Champion, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 13461
9555 Hillwood Drive, 2nd Floor
Las Vegas, Nevada 89134
Attorneys for Respondent Henderson Taxi

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The fundamental question in this appeal is whether the District Court abused its discretion in finding that Sargeant unreasonably continued litigation in spite of its October 8, 2015 Order. On October 8, 2015, the District Court entered a very clear order (the "Order"), finding that Henderson's Grievance settlement "acted as a complete accord and satisfaction of the grievance and *any claims to minimum wage Henderson Taxi's cab drivers may have had.*" AA 17 (emphasis added).

It is true that the Order did not enter final judgment of Sargeant's claims in the case. But final judgment had yet to be requested at that point in the case. Instead, the Order was intended to only deny Plaintiff's Motion to Certify Class. In doing so, the District Court made a finding that Henderson's settlement with the Union acted as "a complete accord and satisfaction" of any minimum wage claims by Henderson's drivers, including Sargeant.

Faced with the District Court's Order, and perhaps in recognition that there was no credible argument for his claims to proceed, Sargeant then sought reconsideration of the District Court's Order (or what he creatively called

8

⁷ Sargeant has separately appealed the District Court's order granting Henderson summary judgment under Supreme Court Case number 69773.

"clarification"). In essence, though, Sargeant's motion for reconsideration was really a completely new motion which requested approval of a new class, for unpleaded claims. The Court saw Sargeant's tactic for what it was: a desperate attempt to re-shape his case and to be declared the prevailing party under NRS 18.010(2) so he could seek an award of fees while not actually seeking any reconsideration. The Court rightfully denied Sargeant's request and granted summary judgment in Henderson's favor.

Because Sargeant refused to accept the District Court's October 8, 2015 Order and let the District Court enter summary judgment in Henderson's favor, the Court awarded Henderson its fees from October 8, 2015 onward. The District Court's decision was not an abuse of discretion. Rather, it was in line with the Legislature's intent to have courts construe NRS 18.020(2)(b) to "all appropriate situations" and to punish for and deter frivolous claims that overburden judicial resources and increase the cost of engaging in business.

The District Court has broad discretion to award fees against a party who maintains claims without reasonable ground or for purposes of harassment. The District Court saw Sargeant's post-October 8, 2015 litigation tactics for what they were: a refusal to acknowledge that his claims should be summarily adjudicated. Nothing in Nevada law prohibited the District Court's sanction of his maintenance of this case and thus, the District Court did not abuse its discretion.

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court's October 8, 2015 Order Rendered Sargeant's Claims Frivolous.

Sargeant's appeal of the District Court's award of attorneys' fees is premised on his contention that the District Court's October 8, 2015 Order was "unclear." Op. Br. 9. Sargeant argues that because the Order was "unclear," he was justified in continuing to litigate this case. *See gen. id.* Because the only question presented to this Court is whether the District Court abused its discretion in awarding Henderson fees, the Court must accept the District Court's October 8, 2015 Order as written.

However, because Sargeant has alleged that the October 8, 2015 Order is "unclear," justifying his maintenance of this case, Henderson will first address the October 8, 2015 Order and address how it resolved Sargeant's claims. Henderson will then address why the District Court's decision to award costs from October 8, 2015 on was not an abuse of discretion in light of the October 8, 2015 Order.

A. The October 8, 2015 Order Was Unmistakable in its Holding.

The August 8, 2015 Order was clear. The District Court ruled in relevant part:

///

///

///

A. Any Minimum Wage Claims were resolved by an accord and satisfaction with the Union

In June of 2014, the Nevada Supreme Court decided the case *Thomas v. Nev. Yellow Cab Corp.*, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 52, 327 P.3d 518, 522 (2014) and found that the Minimum Wage Amendment to Nevada's Constitution, Nev. Const. Art. 15, § 16, eliminated the exemption from minimum wage for taxicab drivers that had been provided by statute. Thereafter, the ITPEU/OPEIU Local 4873, AFL-CIO (the "Union"), which the Court finds to be the exclusive representative of Henderson Taxi cab drivers as regards their employment with Henderson Taxi, grieved the issue of minimum wage to Henderson Taxi (the "Grievance"). Through negotiation, Henderson Taxi and the Union settled the Grievance by agreeing that in addition to changing pay practices going forward, Henderson Taxi would give drivers an opportunity to review Henderson Taxi's time and pay calculations and pay its current and former cab drivers the difference between what they had been paid and Nevada minimum wage over the two years prior to the *Yellow Cab* decision. This settlement agreement for the Grievance acted as a complete accord and satisfaction of the grievance and any claims to minimum wage Henderson Taxi's cab drivers may have had.

AA 17.

The use of the words "complete," "any," and "may have had" unequivocally indicate that the Grievance settlement was not just an accord and satisfaction of some subset of the potential class's claim but rather a resolution of all potential claims any of Henderson's cab drivers may have had, including Sargeant. And the District Court's heading announcing that "any minimum wage claims were resolved by an accord and satisfaction" is even clearer. *Id.* In light of the Court's plain verbiage, it is inexplicable how Sargeant can credibly argue that the Order was "unclear." *See* Opening Brief ("Op. Br.") at 9.

But even worse, after the District Court directed Henderson to prepare the order on Sargeant's Motion to Certify, Henderson gave Sargeant the opportunity to approve its proposed order as to form and content.⁸ Sargeant declined and submitted his own competing order with the *same*, *verbatim language*. RA 555.

Sargeant's decision to include the same language in his own proposed order belies his contention on appeal that the language of the Order was unclear. If Sargeant did not understand the language of Henderson's proposed order, then he would have amended the language in his proposed order. But he did not because the Order was clear on its face.⁹

In addition, further undermining his contention on appeal, Sargeant previously admitted in his Motion for Reconsideration of the Order that he

⁸ Pursuant to Eighth Judicial District Rule ("EDCR") 7.2, the District Court asked Henderson to prepare a proposed order for the Court's review and approval. This Court has previously approved the practice of prevailing parties preparing the district court's order. *Mortimer v. Pac States Sav. & Loan Co.*, 62 Nev. 142, 144, 141 P.2d 552, 552 (1943). When the district court instructs a party to prepare an order, the other party has to be given the opportunity to respond to the proposed order. This ensures that the proposed order accurately reflects the district court's findings. *See Byford v. State*, 123 Nev. 67, 69, 156 P.3d 691, 692 (2007). In the Eighth Judicial District, it is common practice to request opposing counsel's approval as to the form and content of an order. *See* STEMPEL, JEFFREY W., NEVADA CIVIL PRACTICE MANUAL (2001) § 11.17. If opposing counsel disagrees with the language of a proposed order, they are free to submit a competing proposed order which is exactly what Sargeant did in this case. *See* RA 553-561.

⁹ In submitting his competing proposed order, Sargeant specifically identifies the only revision to Henderson's proposed order he made (a change at page 4, line 14 through page 6) and explicitly notes "[i]t is [the] only [] finding that support[s] such conclusion that vary." RA 553.

"underst[ood] the Court's Order [of October 8, 2015] as holding that *all claims* for all minimum wages under Article 15, Section 16 of the Nevada Constitution owed to *all members* of the alleged class (defendant's taxi drivers) ha[d] been fully settled by the Grievance through an 'accord and satisfaction." AA 23 (emphasis in original). Sargeant's contention to the contrary before this Court is simply without merit. Put simply, both parties were aware when they received the Order that Sargeant's claims were rendered incapable of being maintained. This clear Order also explains Plaintiff's change in tactics and his attempt to certify a completely new class—a class which is premised on the Union resolution and only consisting of those that did not accept the settlement funds. This new approach is clearly based on Plaintiff's understanding of the order as rendering his original claims moot. Thus, Plaintiff's own conduct belies the argument he makes now.

B. The Fact that Henderson Prepared the Court's Order is Irrelevant.

As a backstop to his lack of clarity argument, Sargeant suggests in a mere footnote that this Court should find that Henderson was barred from requesting fees whatsoever because it drafted the "ambiguous and contradictory" language of the October 8, 2015 Order. Op. Br. 23 at n. 2. Sargeant's contention is bare, conclusory, and unsupported by any legal precedent.

It is certainly true that in the context of a contract dispute, if the contract at issue contains ambiguities that cannot be resolved by looking at the circumstances

surrounding the contract (in determining the intent of the parties), the court must construe the ambiguities against the party who drafted the contract or selected the language used. *See Davis v. Nevada Nat'l Bank*, 103 Nev. 220, 223, 737 P.2d 503, 505 (1987). But this Court has never held that this principal can be extended to the construction of court orders. ¹⁰ Nor should this Court create new law on this point.

This Court has approved of the common practice in this district of prevailing parties drafting the district court's proposed orders. *See Mortimer*, 62 Nev. at 144, 141 P.2d at 552. However, the district court retains ultimate control over its orders. The district court is free to amend a party's proposed order, adopt one proposed order over the other, or reject all proposed orders altogether.

In essence, what Sargeant is arguing is that the District Court's decision to adopt Henderson's proposed order over his should bar Henderson from any award of fees. But there is absolutely no support for this position. Henderson should not be penalized because its proposed order accurately reflected the District Court's decision and thus, did not warrant any relevant amendments by the District Court. To hold to the contrary would penalize a party for complying with the District Court's instructions to prepare a proposed order for their review and approval.

C. The Order's Failure to Include Final Judgment is Irrelevant.

Finally, in another attempt to get around the District Court's Order, Sargeant argues that he had to seek "clarification" from the District Court because the Order

¹⁰ In fact, Sargeant cites *no* legal authority in support of his contention.

did not "contain a case dispositive recital enter[ing] final judgment." Op. Br. at 16-17. This argument is a red herring for two reasons.

First, this Court's precedent, including *Lee v. GNLV Corp.*, 116 Nev. 424, 996 P.2d 416, 418 (2000), which Plaintiff cites to in his Opening Brief makes clear that what is dispositive is "what the order or judgment actually *does*, not what it is called." 116 Nev. at 427 quoting *Valley Bank of Nevada v. Ginsburg*, 110 Nev. 440, 445, 874 P.2d 729, 733 (1994). Because Sargeant conceded that he understood the Court's Order to preclude all claims under the MWA as fully settled by the Grievance settlement, AA 23, it is irrelevant whether the Order actually included a statement of final judgment. What is important is that the parties understood that Sargeant's claims were rendered frivolous by the Court's Order. Thus, no "clarification" was necessary.

Second, Sargeant is essentially contending that Henderson should have unilaterally included a recital of final judgment in its proposed order. At the time, neither party had sought summary judgment from the District Court summary judgment. Procedurally, all the District Court was presented with at the time was Sargeant's Motion to Certify. While the District Court's decision on Sargeant's Motion to Certify had the effect of adjudicating Sargeant's claims, it would have been improper for Henderson's counsel to unilaterally decide to include a recital of judgment in its draft order without being asked by the District Court. *See* RA 560-561 (the District Court's minutes instructed Henderson to prepare an order denying

Plaintiff's Motion to Certify for the "supporting reasons proffered to the Court in briefing" but did *not* instruct Henderson to also include a recital of judgment).

Moreover, as discussed *supra*, Sargeant submitted his own competing proposed order to the District Court for its consideration. Sargeant's own order did not include any recital of final judgment. *See* RA 554-559. So it is hard for Sargeant to claim the lack of final judgment required him to continue litigation. Put another way: If Sargeant's proposed order had been adopted by the District Court instead, Sargeant could not credibly argue that the Order justified further litigation. So Sargeant cannot now point to the missing recital of judgment as justification for his conduct.

VI. The District Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion in Concluding Sargeant's Conduct Warranted an Award of Fees Pursuant to NRS 18.010(2)(b).

The District Court awarded Henderson its fees because Sargeant continued to litigate this case after the October 8, 2015 Order. Specifically, Sargeant filed a Motion for Reconsideration on October 30, 2015 and opposed Henderson's Motion for Summary Judgment on December 14, 2015. The District Court found that in doing so, Sargeant "maintained this action 'without reasonable ground' because the Court had ruled he had no cognizable claim." AA 227. The District Court's decision was not in error and was not an abuse of discretion.

A. The District Court Acted Within its Discretion.

The District Court enjoys broad discretion in determining whether to award fees in a case. *See Nelson v. Peckham Plaza Partnerships*, 110 Nev. 23, 26, 866 P.2d 1138, 1140 (1994). In this case, the District Court determined that an award of fees was warranted pursuant to NRS 18.010(2)(b) which provides, in pertinent part:

- 2. In addition to the cases where an allowance is authorized by specific statute, the court may make an allowance of attorney's fees to a prevailing party:
 - (b) Without regard to the recovery sought, when the court finds that the claim, counterclaim, cross-claim, or third-party complaint or defense of the opposing party was brought or maintained without reasonable ground or to harass the The court shall liberally construe the prevailing party. provisions of this paragraph in favor of awarding attorney's fees in all appropriate situations. It is the intent of the Legislature that the court award attorney's fees pursuant to this paragraph and impose sanctions pursuant to Rule 11 of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure in all appropriate situations to punish for and deter frivolous or vexatious claims and defenses because such claims and defenses overburden limited judicial resources, hinder the timely resolution of meritorious claims and increase the cost of engaging in business and providing professional services to the public.

In 2003, the Legislature amended NRS 18.010(2)(b) to specifically allow for an award of fees when a party *maintains* frivolous claims and to instruct courts to "liberally construe the provisions of [NRS 18.010(2)(b) in favor of awarding attorney's fees in all appropriate situations." *See* NRS 18.010(2) (2003); Nev. S.B. 250. The intent of the Legislature in making this amendment was "to punish for

and deter frivolous or vexatious claims and defenses because such claims and defenses overburden limited judicial resources, hinder the timely resolution of meritorious claims and increase the cost of engaging in business and providing professional services to the public." *See id*.

While very few cases have analyzed the statute, as amended, the District Court appropriately looked at the plain language of the statute and determined that, given the circumstances of the case, ¹¹ Sargeant's conduct after October 8, 2015 warranted sanctions through an award of fees. Sargeant has failed to demonstrate that the District Court's decision was an abuse of discretion.

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